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Of Greek Revival design, the Whaley House is a one-and-a-half story, front- 
facing gable structure with a one-story rear section. Facing east, the front 
facade has two, six pane casements in the upper story and two, eight-pane casements 
and an off-centered front door in the lower story. An open veranda, supported "by 
four tapered posts on square piers, extends across the front of the house. Returned 
eaves and a wide molded frieze provide classic detail.

Both the south and north sides have a four-window bay with bracketed cornice 
and panels below the windows. Twelve-pane, double-hung windows are present in 
the lower story on the sides and in the upper story in the rear facade. Construction 
is of redwood, siding is clapboard, and there is an exterior brick chimney on the 
rear facade.

The one-story kitchen section has porches on both the north and south sides. 
Twelve-pane, double-hung windows are also present in this section and the siding 
is the same as the main portion of the house. At right angles to this rear section 
is a gable-roofed, one-story addition with a rabbeted three-step siding.

The house is located on a corner lot which extends 100 feet to the alley at 
the rear and has a frontage of 115 feet. The side yard on the south recalls an 
earlier time with its cherry and apples trees. A low picket fence extends across 
the front of the property and along the north side. On the alley at the rear of 
the property is a three-car garage with several small additions.

In 1903 the house, occupied by the Charles ¥. Hill family, was purchased by 
Mr. Hill and moved from its original location on the north side of l4th Street 
between "I" and "J" Streets to the present site at the southwest corner of l^th 
and "H" Streets, approximately a block and a half east of the original site. 
The owner of the original property, Walter Wiley, wanted the house removed from 
the lot in order to build a new house. The house was moved from a location between 
mirror-image Queen Anne houses built in 1888 to a neighborhood which included the 
1870 Ericson House (across the street to the east and essentially unaltered), the 
1895 Stern House (on the northeast corner of l4th and "H" and remodeled in 1904) 
and another settlement-era house on the same block. Within the year after the 
house was moved, three houses (two remain) were built on the west side of the block. 
Today the neighborhood contains mixed housing types—bungalow, modern, turn-of-the 
century, and settlement-era.

The house is in a deteriorated condition and is currently occupied as a three- 
apartment rental by Humboldt State University students. However, the new owners 
intend to begin immediate structural repairs (foundation and roof) and, as soon as 
possible, undertake exterior restoration and interior renovation. Exterior 
alterations to the main house include the two bays, which appear to have been added 
at the time the house was moved in 1903 j the addition (at the time the house was 
converted into apartments) of two small windows on either side of the house; the 
front door which appears to be early 1900's; and the front porch which no longer 
has its roof balustrade and may have different posts. Alterations to the kitchen 
section include the addition at the rear and the south-side porch, which has been 
partially enclosed. The new owners plan to rebuild the front porch to include a 
roof balustrade and square posts with simple capitals, replace the foundation skirt­ 
ing, remove the garage additions, repair the picket fence, clean up the overgrowth 
in the yard, paint the exterior white, and renovate the interior. The building's 
setting, including the old orchard trees, side yard, picket fence, and surrounding 
neighborhood, support the character and qualities of this early settlement house.
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At the rear of the property on the alley are three garages, built in a row. They 
were probably constructed in the 19PO«s. They c.::-e one-st-*7 v/oodframe construction 
with shiplap siding. The size of the structure is approximately ^8 X 18 feet with 
shared common interior walls. The roof is low-pitched and shingled with composition 
material. The floors are concrete slab and the garage doors are sliding types on 
a tubular steel track.



El SIGNIFICANCE

PERIOD
—PREHISTORIC

— 1400-1499

— 1500-1599

— 1600-1699

— 1 700-1799 

J*18GC- 1899

AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE -- CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW

_ARCHEOLOGY-PREHISTORIC 

_ARCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC

_AGRICULTURE 
X

^COMMUNICATIONS

—COMMUNITY PLANNING

—CONSERVATION

—ECONOMICS

—EDUCATION 

^.ENGINEERING 

'^-EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT

—.INDUSTRY 

^INVENTION

—LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

—LAW

—LITERATURE

—MILITARY

—MUSIC

—PHILOSOPHY

—POLITICS/GOVERNMENT

—RELIGION 

_SCIENCE

—SCULPTURE

_SOCIAL/HUMANITARIAN

—THEATER

—TRANSPORTATION

—OTHER (SPECIFY)

SPECIFIC DATES moyed
BUILDER/ARCHITECT John A. Whaley

The Humboldt Bay region was discovered by the Gregg-Wood party, a group of 
miners from the Trinity River mining district, in December 18^9. The following 
spring, ships from San Francisco brought eager fortune-seekers to the area and 
rapid settlement followed as Union (renamed Arcata in i860) became a supply center 
for the interior mining districts. Goods were brought by ship to the deep-water 
port at Union for transport by mule train across the mountains to the KLamath, 
Trinity and Salmon river mining camps.

Settlement-era architecture in the Humboldt Bay region reflected the cultural 
origins of New England immigrants and like other housing built in California during 
this period was simple and classic in detail often with double galleries, French 
doors, and balustrades (Kirker, 1960). The Whaley House, built in l855> is a 
good example of this style and period. It is nominated to the National Register 
because it is a significant component of Arcata's architectural heritage, being 
one of only five remaining residences known to have been built in the 1850's and 
the only remaining Greek Revival cottage with the characteristic double galleries 
and French doors of settlement period California.

John A. Whaley, a pioneer settler from New York, built this "comfortable 
and handsome dwelling" on the "plateau north of the Plaza" in February 1855. The 
following July he was married to Emily Southard, whose brother Charles C. Southard 
was a member of the Humboldt Bay discovery party of 18^9 and in the spring of 1850, 
a founder of Trinidad. John and Emily set up housekeeping in this house and there 
were four Whaley children. Mr. Whaley, described as a "clear-headed, active and 
upright businessman," had a saddlery and harness shop and served as the local Justice 
of the Peace, Town Recorder and general business agent in 1858. For twenty-five 
years he was the Internal Revenue Collector for the local district and at the time 
of his last illness in 1887 was a deputy assessor for Humboldt County. After his 
death in 1888, his widow continued to occupy the house where she raised two grandsons, 
In 1899 she sold the house on its original lot to Walter J. Wiley and moved to 
Hollister where she died in 1911.

Wiley apparently never lived in the house, but rented it to Charles W. Hill, 
who purchased the house in 1903 and moved it to the present location. A native 
of Charlotte County, New Brunswick, Hill came to Humboldt County in 1858 and 
spent the next four years logging. Returning to New Brunswick in 1862, he was 
married to Mary M. Wilson, a sister of Mrs. William Carson of Eureka's Carson Mansion 
fame, and they returned to Eureka where Hill ran a logging operation on 1,600 acres 
in the Ryan Slough area. Upon his retirement about 1900, they moved to Arcata 
where he was engaged in various pursuits including a gold saving operation on local 
beaches and pine timber deals.
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Charles and Mary Hill lived in this house until their deaths in 1922 and 
1935 > respectively. Ownership of the house went to the Hill's son, Henry Edmond 
Hill, in 1935 and upon his death in 1.9^3, to his sisters, Nellie (Mrs. David) 
Wilson and Elizabeth (Mrs. Frank) Smith. The following year Mrs. Smith's 
daughter, Met (Mrs. Julius) Moore assumed ownership which lasted until 1964. 
Since that time the house has had two other owners before being purchased by 
Bill and Sally Thonson in April 1979.

The house is recommended for placement on the National Register because 
its architecture is significant to the community, its history is only five 
years short of covering the same time span as Arcata's history, and National 
Register status will aid in its restoration and preservation.


